IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 70,835

ROBERT ANTHONY PRESTON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative

BILLY H. NOLAS Staff Attorney

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE Independent Life Building 225 West Jefferson Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

[CORRECTED BRIEF]

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record: "R" -- Record on Direct Appeal to this Court;

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Preston was initially arrested and taken into custody in Seminole County, Florida, on January 10, 1978, for throwing a beer bottle at a car (R. 1009, 1468). While in custody, on January 11th, Mr. Preston was arrested in connection with the death of Earline Walker, who had been killed on January 9th. Mr. Preston was subsequently charged with, inter alia, premeditated and felony murder.

Pretrial, the defense challenged the admissibility of physical evidence obtained from Mr. Preston's home during a search purportedly consented to by his mother (R. 2262-76, 2280-81). The hearing court suppressed (R. 2316), and the State filed an interlocutory appeal in the Fifth District (R. 2371). The Fifth District transferred the matter to this Court, which declined jurisdiction. <u>State v. Preston</u>, 376 So. 2d 3 (Fla. 1979). The Fifth District, in <u>State v. Preston</u>, 387 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980), then reversed the suppression order.

Shortly after the trial court had suppressed the evidence seized from Mr. Preston's home, the State brought him to trial on the bottle-throwing charge. The charges in that case were elevated (by amended information) on June 9, 1978, to one felony count of throwing a deadly missile at an occupied vehicle, Fla. Stat. sec. 790.19, and one count of criminal mischief. After a jury trial, Mr. Preston was convicted. Judgments of conviction and sentence were entered on April 1, 1980. Mr. Preston was sentenced to six years.

Mr. Preston's trial on the capital charges commenced on June 1, 1981. The State presented exclusively circumstantial evidence to support its theory that Mr. Preston went into a convenience store and forced the clerk to turn over the contents of a safe, then left the store with her, and, later, killed her in an open field by inflicting multiple stab wounds. The prosecution was primarily based on the testimony of forensic experts, and on those experts' evaluation of physical evidence. There was no direct evidence connecting Mr. Preston to the offense: no inculpatory

statements; no identification evidence; no accomplice testimony.

During the State's case, a law enforcement officer who had processed the victim's car testified that among the items found in the car were a set of keys with a tag bearing the name "Marcus Morales," which was found in the ashtray (R. 690). Defense counsel had never heard the name, nor knew of the keys. During cross-examination of the remaining state witnesses, he attempted to ascertain the identity of "Marcus Morales," but no one was familiar with the name (<u>See, e.g.</u>, R. 719, 945, 1085, 1112, 1119, 1372, 1380). Police officers testified that they had made no attempt to ascertain Morales' identity or whereabouts (R. 691, 1212).

Defense counsel presented Mr. Preston's testimony, and the testimony of a psychiatrist in support of the defense of temporary insanity, induced by chronic PCP abuse (R. 1446-1606). The doctor utilized to support this defense was admittedly not familiar with PCP or its effects (R. 1563-66), and counsel's requested insanity defense instruction was ultimately denied by the trial court (see R. 1729, 1750, 1906-07, 2691-94). The jury returned a quilty verdict (R. 1922-25, 2696-2706), and the penalty phase commenced before the same jury. There, the State introduced the judgment and conviction in the "deadly missile" case. The defense presented the testimony of Mr. Preston, a clinical psychologist, and an attorney who had represented Mr. Preston in earlier stages of the proceedings (see R. 1935-81). Defense counsel failed to question the expert about, and the expert failed to mention, the statutory mental health mitigating circumstances. Following deliberations during which the jury presented several questions regarding the law and procedures governing life sentences (R. 2031-35), it returned a recommendation of death by a vote of seven to five (R. 2036).

This Court affirmed Mr. Preston's sentences and convictions on direct appeal. <u>Preston v. State</u>, 444 So. 2d 939 (Fla. 1984). In July of 1985, Mr. Preston appeared before the Governor's Board of Executive Clemency. The Governor denied clemency and

signed a death warrant on October 9, 1985.

Mr. Preston, now represented by the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative ("CCR"), filed in the Circuit Court for the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit (Seminole County), a Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence (PC 954-86), and supporting pleadings (PC 989-91, 992-1005), including a Motion to Disqualify the Eighteenth Circuit Office of the State Attorney (PC 952-53). This motion was based on the fact that Mr. Preston had been previously represented by Assistant State Attorney Don Marblestone on an offense which was used to aggravate sentence in the instant capital offense (see PC 951-53). [Mr. Marblestone joined the State Attorney's after he represented Mr. Preston, and then participated as an Assistant State Attorney in the capital prosecution.]

The Circuit Court granted a stay of execution on October 31, 1985 (PC 1030). No ruling was made on the motion to disqualify the State Attorney's Office. On July 14, 1986, Mr. Preston's original post-conviction counsel, formerly staff members of the St. Petersburg branch CCR office, moved to withdraw because their employment with CCR was coming to an end due to the closing of the St. Petersburg office (PC 1152-53). On August 8, 1986, the trial court below entered an order setting an evidentiary hearing for October 21st (PC 1164). Undersigned counsel was initially assigned to Mr. Preston's case, and commenced preparation for the hearing, approximately one week prior to that date, shortly after commencing his own employment with the CCR (See PC 9).

At the evidentiary hearing counsel orally renewed the motion to disqualify the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit State Attorney's Office (PC 22-25). After oral argument, the court heard the testimony of Assistant State Attorney Don Marblestone (PC 86-88). Mr. Marblestone testified that he had "never" appeared in court in connection with the "prosecution" of Mr. Preston (PC 100), and that a copy of the court clerk's minutes which indicated his appearance on behalf of the State at a motions' hearing

in Mr. Preston's case on October 10, 1980, reflected "a mistake made by the clerk" (PC 101). A court reporter then was called to the stand and read from the notes of the court reporter who had been present at that hearing (PC 124-126). The notes showed that Mr. Marblestone did appear in court on October 10th, as the representative of the State Attorney's Office in the case of <u>State v. Preston</u>, that he negotiated with Mr. Preston's attorney a waiver of speedy trial in exchange for the State's agreement to a continuance, and that he had intimate knowledge of the details of the case. The Rule 3.850 court, however, denied the motion for disqualification (PC 137).

At the end of the three day hearing, the court ordered the parties to file memoranda within 30 days (PC 571). The State then filed its "Memorandum on Defendant's 3.850" (PC 1301-06), the only responsive pleading the State ever filed in this cause. Mr. Preston, on November 19, 1986, filed a Motion for a Continuance and for an Order Directing the Office of the State Attorney to Comply With Request Pursuant to Fla. Stat. Section 119 (PC 1196-1215), urging the court to enter an Order requiring the State Attorney's Office to comply with Mr. Preston's repeated but asyet-unanswered requests for public records (Fla. Stat. Sec. 119). The court never ruled on Mr. Preston's motion. Counsel continued to investigate.

On November 24, 1986, Mr. Preston filed, along with his memorandum on the issues and evidence presented at the Rule 3.850 hearing, a pleading captioned "Defendant's Supplemental Support for Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence Pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850" (PC 1263-88). Through this pleading, Mr. Preston presented evidence to the court, in the form of sworn affidavits from several witnesses, which showed that Robert Preston was innocent, that his brother, Scott Preston, had confessed (and in fact bragged) to several people prior to trial that he was responsible for the murder at issue, that he (Scott) was in fact involved with Marcus Morales, and that a representative of the State Attorney's office had this information a year before Mr.

Preston's trial (<u>See</u> PC 1263-88). Mr. Preston's pleading explained that ongoing investigative efforts had uncovered the evidence presented therein, and that the evidence was submitted to the court as soon as it was discovered. Counsel urged that the court conduct further fact-finding proceedings concerning this evidence and the issues it implicated. The State never responded to these issues and evidence, and the court never ruled on the requests made.

On December 10, 1986, Mr. Preston filed another pleading renewing his request that the court re-open the hearing to allow further fact-finding proceedings regarding the evidence discussed above ("Defendant's Consolidated Addendum to Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence, and Renewed Request for Further Fact-Finding Proceedings," PC 1292-97). This pleading was never acknowledged or responded to by the State, and the court again did not rule.

On February 13, 1987, the Circuit Court entered an order denying the Rule 3.850 motion (PC 1307-1313). The order did not address Mr. Preston's supplemental pleadings, and made no reference to the evidence presented thereby or the requests for further proceedings made therein. Mr. Preston filed a Motion for Rehearing of the court's order on February 26, 1987, again urging the court to consider the evidence discovered after the hearing and presented in the supplemental pleadings, and renewing the request for further fact-finding proceedings regarding that evidence (PC 1314-43). The court denied rehearing, in a single-sentence form order, on June 18, 1987 (PC 1344). Mr. Preston's Notice of Appeal to this Court was filed on July 8, 1987 (PC 1345).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The lower court's resolution of the issues presented in Mr. Preston's case was fundamentally flawed. Mr. Preston presented substantial and compelling evidence of his factual innocence. This evidence, much of which was known to the state prior

to trial but not disclosed to the defense, was discovered after the evidentiary hearing and immediately presented to the court by way of supplemental pleadings, which were supported by sworn affidavits. The pleadings showed that the State's continuing efforts to suppress the evidence at issue accounted for the difficulty of its discovery and the timing of its presentation, and urged the court to hold further fact-finding proceedings on these matters. The court never responded to any of these pleadings, and ignored the substantial evidence included in Mr. Preston's submissions. In refusing to conduct the requested fact-finding proceedings on these issues, the lower court erred. The court also erred by refusing to direct the State Attorney to comply with Mr. Preston's reasonable requests for access to public records -- a refusal which denied Mr. Preston his rights to "access" to the postconviction court, and to a full and fair resolution of the issues presented in this Rule 3.850 action. Finally, the court below totally abdicated to the State its duty to resolve Mr. Preston's claims -- its order was little more than a verbatim copy of the State's single responsive pleading, violating Mr. Preston's right to have the issues determined by the court. Patterson v. State. Because of the substantial flaws in the proceedings conducted below, this case should be remanded for a proper resolution of the evidentiary claims raised in this proceeding.

II. Don Marblestone represented Mr. Preston in connection with a 1974 offense which was used to aggravate this capital sentence. Don Marblestone was later employed by the same State Attorney's office that prosecuted Mr. Preston on this capital case. Marblestone participated in the prosecution of Mr. Preston in this case, both at the initial trial-level proceedings and post-conviction. The conflict of interest engendered by Marblestone's involvement rendered Mr. Preston's capital trial and sentencing proceeding fundamentally unreliable and violative of the fifth, sixth, eighth, and fourteenth amendments. The post-conviction proceedings were infected with the same conflict, and the same constitutional infirmity.

III. The State failed to disclose evidence which would have proven that its key expert witness was unqualified to act or testify as an expert, that that witness's testimony was misleading, unreliable, and in all probability erroneous, and, at a minimum, which could have been used by the defense to undermine and substantially impeach the witness's testimony. This witness's testimony was central to the State's case, and the State's suppression of evidence which would have precluded and/or discredited her testimony violated <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) and the fifth, sixth, eighth, and fourteenth amendments.

IV. The State deliberately suppressed evidence of Mr. Preston's actual innocence of the capital crime for which he has been sentenced to die, evidence which would have shown (and can now show, if Mr. Preston is given a fair opportunity to prove his claim) that Mr. Preston is not guilty, that another, known individual committed the offense at issue, and that the State knew of Mr. Preston's innocence and the other individual's culpability. Mr. Preston's capital conviction and sentence therefore violate the fifth, sixth, eighth, and fourteenth amendments and <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>. At a minimum, this Court should remand this case to afford Mr. Preston the opportunity to present the conclusive evidence establishing his claim, evidence which the court below failed to consider.

V. Mr. Preston is innocent of the crime for which he was convicted and sentenced to die, and his innocence can be proven. Consequently, under the eighth and fourteenth amendments, this Court should not allow this death sentence to be carried out, but should remand the case for a full and fair hearing.

VI. Mr. Preston was denied effective assistance of counsel at the guiltinnocence and sentencing phases of these capital proceedings. At each stage, counsel failed to adequately investigate and prepare, and therefore did not effectively represent his capital client's interests. Counsel, for example, incomprehensibly sought to present an "insanity" defense through the testimony of an "expert" who

acknowledged from the outset that he was not qualified to provide expert testimony on the issue. <u>Mauldin v. Wainwright</u>. With regard to even his own chosen theory, counsel failed to provide the expert witnesses available evidence which would have resulted in substantially more favorable opinions regarding Mr. Preston's mental/emotional condition. Counsel's failures resulted in the trial court's refusal to even provide an insanity defense instruction. Other deficiencies included counsel's failure to litigate substantial issues, and his complete failure to present available evidence at sentencing which would have precluded the imposition of a death sentence. Mr. Preston was therefore denied his sixth, eighth, and fourteenth amendment rights, and is entitled to relief.

VII. The sentencing court aggravated sentence on the basis of a prior conviction which was obtained during proceedings at which Mr. Preston was denied his right to the effective assistance of counsel. Mr. Preston's death sentence was therefore obtained in substantial reliance on "misinformation of constitutional magnitude" in violation of the eighth and fourteenth amendments. The lower court's order, however, refused to grant relief by asserting that this Court's opinion in <u>Mann v. State</u> held that challenges to a prior conviction such as the challenge brought by Mr. Preston were "inappropriate". The lower court erred. <u>Mann</u> simply held that, under warrant, a stay of execution would not be granted solely to enable a defendant to litigate a previous conviction in another state. Mr. Preston's claim has been legitimately brought pursuant to Florida's traditional Rule 3.850 standards. Mr. Preston is now pursuing a separate Rule 3.850 proceeding litigating the constitutionality of the previous conviction. Because his sentence of death is unconstitutional, <u>Zant v. Stephens</u>, Mr. Preston is entitled to post-conviction relief.

VIII. Robert Anthony Preston's capital trial took place prior to <u>Caldwell v.</u> Mississippi. There, the trial court's instructions erroneously misinformed the

sentencing jury concerning the importance of their sentencing verdict. The judge's instructions, in fact, [mis]informed the jurors by telling them that their role was essentially meaningless. Because the jurors' sense of responsibility was thus diminished, Mr. Preston's death sentence violates the eighth and fourteenth amendments. <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>. Mr. Preston's claim must be determined on the merits, and relief should be granted, in this post-conviction proceeding. <u>Caldwell</u> did not exist at the time of Mr. Preston's trial and direct appeal: Mr. Preston therefore lacked the "tools" upon which he could base such a claim. <u>Caldwell</u> represents a substantial change in eighth amendment law requiring Rule 3.850 consideration under <u>Witt v. State</u>. Relief should be granted.

IX. The trial court erroneously aggravated the capital offense and rebutted mitigating evidence on the basis of unconstitutional misinformation. The court relied on a prior conviction which it believed was a violent felony. However, Mr. Preston had only been charged with a non-violent misdemeanor. Mr. Preston's sentence of death was therefore substantially and fundamentally flawed. This Court should grant relief, because, <u>inter alia</u>, the court's constitutional error "perverted" the weighing process and the resolution of the "ulttimate question whether" Robert Preston should have been sentenced to die. Smith v. Murray.

X. The court directed the sentencing jury to find an aggravating circumstance. It thus violated Mr. Preston's eighth and fourteenth amendment rights to an individualized, reliable sentencing verdict, and to the protecttions of the <u>Tedder v.</u> <u>State</u> standard. This constitutional error resulted in the imposition of a capital sentence against a defendant for whom such a sentence was not appropriate, and who therefore was "innocent" in the only sense meaningful to the eighth amendment. This reason, among others, demonstrates that relief is warranted.

XI. Mr. Preston's capital jury was erroneously instructed that a life verdict required a majority vote. These instructions misled the jury, and created the

substantial risk that death may have been imposed despite factors calling for life. <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, which was not available at the time of Mr. Preston's trial and direct appeal, now demonstrates that providing such misleading information to a capital sentencing jury violates the eighth and fourteenth amendments. This jury struggled to reach a sentencing verdict, and voted for death by the slimmest of margins (7-5). Consequently, there can be little doubt that the error in this case was not harmless, and that the State cannot carry its burden of demonstrating that the error had "no effect" on the jury's sentencing verdict. On the basis of <u>Caldwell</u> <u>v. Mississippi</u>, Mr. Preston's sentence of death should be vacated.

XII. Robert Preston was subjected to examinations by State psychiatrists without being advised of his right to counsel. The <u>statements</u> obtained during those examinations were then introduced against him at his capital trial. Although Mr. Preston asserted an insanity defense, that assertion neither was a waiver of his right to counsel, <u>Estelle v. Smith</u>, nor of his right to not have the statements elicited during such state-initiated examinations introduced unless the defense itself "opened the door." <u>Parkin v. State</u>. Neither Mr. Preston, nor his counsel, "opened the door" by delving into the statements during the capital proceedings. Thus, although the state's experts could legitimately have testified as to their professional conclusions, once their testimony related Mr. Preston's statements to the tribunal, <u>Parkin</u> and the fifth, sixth, eighth, and fourteenth amendments were violated.

XIII. During the proceedings resulting in Mr. Preston's sentence of death neither judge nor jury provided any "serious consideration" to any non-statutory mitigating factor: the court's instructions precluded the jury; the court then limited its own review. Moreover, the sentencing court's improper refusal to find and weigh clearly established statutory mitigating factors violated the eighth and fourteenth amendments. Hitchcock v. Dugger represents a substantial change in law

making these issues cognizable in state post-conviction actions. <u>Downs v. Dugger</u>. Because Mr. Preston's sentence of death was not "individualized", he is entitled to relief.

ISSUE I

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