IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT A. PRESTON,
Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

CASE NO. 70,835

FILED

SD 1. WHITE

DEC 2 1987 ✓

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By *[Signature]*
Deputy Clerk

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

SEAN DALY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
125 N. Ridgewood Avenue
Fourth Floor
Daytona Beach, Fl. 32014
(904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I, IV & V

These issues were not timely presented to the trial court and therefore are procedurally barred. The matters were never considered nor ruled upon by the lower tribunal and this court is without jurisdiction to determine them on the merits and should necessarily affirm based the trial court's apparent refusal to allow their untimely presentation and consideration. Alternatively, the bulk of the issues raised are not cognizable in any event in a Rule 3.850 proceeding inasmuch as they clearly constitute a "new evidence" claim or are without substantive merit.

POINT II

The trial court properly rejected the appellant's purported "conflict of interest" claim based upon employment by the state attorney's office of one of his former defense attorneys from a previous unrelated case. The issue was not cognizable in a Rule 3.850 proceeding in that it could and should have been raised originally at trial and on direct appeal. Alternatively, Preston has demonstrated neither actual "conflict" nor adverse effect to justify reversal of this case or disqualification of the same state attorney's office for purposes of the Rule 3.850 proceeding below.

POINT III

Preston's claim of a Brady v. Maryland violation for failure to disclose a personnel evaluation of a hair analysis expert whose testimony was presented at trial was properly rejected.

Even if it is assumed that the state had some duty to disclose this information (a contention which appellee rejects) the trial court properly rejected the claim inasmuch as Preston has failed to carry his burden of demonstrating materiality in the non-disclosed evidence.

POINT VI

The appellant's various ineffectiveness of trial counsel allegations were properly rejected by the lower court inasmuch as Preston has failed to demonstrate that his obviously experienced and well-qualified trial counsel acted unreasonably at either the guilt or penalty phase of the proceeding and/or that he was sufficiently prejudiced by this allegedly detrimental conduct so as to justify relief.

POINT VII

Preston's claim that his death penalty conviction should have been reversed in the Rule 3.850 proceeding because he had challenged the effectiveness of his trial counsel in a separate prior criminal case, which conviction was utilized to support an aggravating factor at his penalty hearing, was properly rejected by the trial court based upon this court's decision in Mann v. State, 482 So.2d 1360, 1361 (Fla. 1986); alternatively, the trial court could and should have rejected this claim on a procedural default analysis since it could and should have been raised at the original trial and on a direct appeal therefrom if Preston truly considered his previous conviction to have been tainted by ineffective assistance. Failure to enforce this jurisdictional/procedural bar will undermine its effectiveness in

both the state and federal courts.

POINT VIII

Preston's jury instructions/Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320 (1985) challenge was not timely presented at trial and/or on direct appeal and it cannot be raised in a Rule 3.850 proceeding. Alternatively, there is no impropriety in the jury instructions given nor does the record demonstrate any misleading of the jury as to the importance of their role in the sentencing scheme.

POINT IX

Preston's assertion that the trial court relied upon improper factual information in rejecting one of the potential statutory mitigating factors was also properly rejected by the trial court as improperly raised in a Rule 3.850 context; in any event, however, the error was clearly of a typographical nature and the fact that the judge was specifically apprised of the correct information at trial necessarily demonstrates the lack of prejudice to Preston.

POINT X

Again, Preston's allegation that the trial court "directed" the jury to find an aggravating circumstance in his jury instructions at the penalty phase is untimely raised in a motion for post-conviction relief; however, there is nothing erroneous, fundamentally or otherwise, in the jury instruction at issue in that it simply informed the jurors, as a matter of law that the felony offense at issue would satisfy that aggravating factor if the jury as fact-finders were to determine that the defendant's

prior conviction for that offense had in fact been proven.

POINT XI

Again, Preston's belated penalty phase jury instruction challenges were properly rejected as procedurally barred in a motion for post-conviction relief proceeding. In addition, even if the claims were to be addressed on their merits no actual, as opposed to speculative, prejudice has been shown to the appellant from the instructions, i.e., the appellant has failed to demonstrate that the jury to his detriment was left with the impression that they could not vote to recommend life by less than a majority recommendation nor that they in any way shirked their specific sentencing responsibility because of correct information that the judge under Florida law is the ultimate sentencing authority.

POINT XII

Preston's claim that his Miranda rights were violated in presentation of psychiatric testimony from court-appointed psychiatrists without adequate warning and the assistance of counsel is a question that could and should have been raised initially at trial and on direct appeal and is therefore barred from consideration in a post-conviction proceeding. Alternatively, inasmuch as Preston clearly put his mental health at issue there is no legal impropriety in ordering independent psychiatric examination or the presentation of that testimony at trial so as to demonstrate reversible error nor has there been any showing of actual substantive prejudicial impact based upon the "statements" at issue.

POINT XIII

Preston's assertion that the trial court failed to "consider" all available non-statutory and statutory mitigating evidence is, like most of his claims, procedurally barred by failure to timely present it at the trial and to some extent by this court's prior resolution of that claim on direct appeal. Certainly, the "tools" for presenting what is now referred to a Hitchcock claim were available so as to require enforcement of the procedural default rule; however, in any event there is absolutely no record support for a determination that the trial judge did not consider the wealth of non-statutory mitigating evidence presented by a defense counsel obviously aware of the importance of such evidence, especially in light of the specific jury instruction given at the penalty phase that the jurors could consider any aspect of the "defendant's character or record, and any other circumstance of the offense" and the trial judge's factual finding after evidentiary hearing that "no limit was placed on consideration of non-statutory mitigating factors by this court."

POINTS I, IV & V

THE APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO TIMELY PRESENT MOST OF THE VARIED ARGUMENTS INCLUDED WITHIN THESE CLAIMS IN A TIMELY MANNER AND THE LACK OF ANY MERITS DETERMINATION (ORDER) BY THE TRIAL COURT UPON THESE ISSUES NECESSARILY BARS APPELLATE REVIEW.

In a hodge-podge of arguments in Points I, IV & V of his initial brief Preston claims that he wasn't afforded an adequate evidentiary hearing and that his rights were otherwise violated because, inter alia, the state did not comply with his Chapter 119, Florida Statutes Public Records Law request; the trial court did not rule upon his post-evidentiary motion for continuance and order directing state attorney to comply; and that the court did not consider and determine his various affidavit-based claims also generated after the evidentiary hearing on his already amended post-conviction motion. The state submits that this court cannot determine the merits of these claims (such that the state will not address them in this proceeding) and should not otherwise consider them in light of Preston's obvious procedural default in failing to timely raise them and obtain ruling thereon at the trial court level.

The claims are best combined for purposes of an overview of the history of delay caused by Preston in this case. Initially, it must be noted that Preston filed no motion for post-conviction relief in the years following his conviction and sentencing choosing instead to wait until October 31, 1985, only two working days before his scheduled November 5, 1985 execution date. Preston filed his first motion to vacate judgment and sentence

"with leave to amend" (PCR 954-988)¹ along with an application for stay of execution (PCR 989-990). Also attached were various affidavits from Preston's Capital Collateral Representative attorneys purporting to detail how busy they were (PCR 1008-1014). In response to oral arguments held at 3:00 p.m. that same day by the trial court wherein Preston's attorneys - including the head of CCR - alleged that more time was needed to adequately present the post-conviction motion and amend it if necessary, the trial judge indefinitely stayed the scheduled execution and granted Preston's attorneys (Steven Malone and Larry Helm Spalding) until January 31, 1986, to file their "amended motion to vacate judgment and sentence" (PCR 1029, 1030, 1041). Preston filed his amended motion and memorandum in support thereof on January 31, 1986 and sought an evidentiary hearing (PCR 1042-1118). Included in the issues raised therein was the same "Marcus Morales" (Brady claim) apparently still uninvestigated by Preston (PCR 1045). Named counsel for Preston at that time were Spalding, Malone, and Sondra Goldenfarb. On February 4, 1986, a "supplemental appendix" to the amended motion was filed (PCR 1120-1135).

On July 16, 1986 the trial judge ordered an evidentiary hearing on the amended motion to vacate and scheduled it for August 15, 1986 - more than nine months after the original filing of Preston's Rule 3.850 motion (PCR 1154). Immediately

¹ (PCR) refers to the post-conviction motion record; (R) refers to the original direct appeal record; (AB) refers to appellant's initial brief on his Rule 3.850 appeal.

thereafter - July 18, 1986 - Malone and Goldenfarb moved to withdraw and substitute Spalding as counsel (PCR 1152). On July 30, 1986 Mark Olive, on behalf of Spalding and CCR, filed a motion for continuance of the scheduled evidentiary hearing noting that he had been assigned the case and would need until a date certain - October 14, 1986 (sixty days later) - to adequately prepare (PCR 1155-1159). An amended motion for continuance of the hearing soon followed (PCR 1160-1163) and the trial court again agreed to Preston's extension request this time rescheduling the evidentiary hearing for October 21, 1986 - almost a year after the first Rule 3.850 motion had been filed and the indefinite stay of Preston's execution granted (PCR 1164).

On October 16, 1986, one week prior to this scheduled hearing, Billy Nolas (Preston's present counsel) filed an affirmation in support of his pro hac vice application asserting that he now was counsel for Preston for post-conviction relief purposes and that he had been employed by CCR in September, 1986 and was assigned to represent Preston on October 14, 1986 (only two days before) (PCR 1165-1166). No motion to substitute counsel was made; however, an October 17, 1986 motion for payment of witness fees listed Spalding Olive as apparent counsel for Preston with Nolas "of counsel" (PCR 1171).

Of the three named counsel only Nolas apparently appeared at the beginning of the scheduled evidentiary hearing, despite the fact that he had not yet been admitted pro hac vice. Once admitted, Nolas represented Preston throughout the proceeding

many times attributing his lack of preparation and failure to have obtained necessary witnesses or conduct investigation of those witnesses who would appear to his short (one week) exposure in the case (PCR 388, 410-413)

Early in the evidentiary proceeding the trial court expressed its displeasure with Preston's continuous attempts to amend and continue the case and questioned counsel as to whether there would ever come an end to their attempts to further prolong the proceeding (PCR 61, 63-64). At another point during the hearing the state objected to allowing Preston to postpone presentation of evidence and further delay the hearing already set and the trial court agreed refusing to let in certain Department of Correction records unsupported by custodian identification, thereby clearly rejecting Preston's attempt to obtain yet another continuance of the proceeding (PCR 406-407). Almost immediately thereafter Preston's counsel asked for a recess to question a witness, Mr. Kutsche, Preston's original trial attorney and the subject of all of the appellant's ineffectiveness allegations, because Nolas was "not prepared to present Mr. Kutsche's testimony. or to cross-examine him" since he had "been running around for seven days trying to present all the other evidence that I could muster" (PCR 411). The trial judge while eventually granting a short recess demonstrated his displeasure with Preston's attempt at yet another delay and his desire to have the case finally and completely litigated in the already oft- delayed evidentiary hearing:

THE COURT: Wait a minute, sir. Mr.

Kutsche's been out there. He's been down here, and you've talked to him. You ought to know what you're going to do. You ought to be prepared to go with it. If you want to go out. . . I'm not going to give you an hour and a half to prepare for his testimony not since this case has been set for this long to try, sir.

MR. NOLAS: And, Your Honor, with all due respect, that hasn't been my fault personally.

THE COURT: I understand. It hasn't been your fault.

MR. NOLAS: Let me give Your Honor an example of what I mean.

We have two boxes of records from the Public Defender's Office. I have never looked through those. Those are Mr. Kutsche's trial - -

THE COURT: Sir, you represented to me the other day, when you came here, you wanted me to admit you to this case. You said you were prepared to go with it. How, the Capital Collateral Representative, I guess that's the name, you've had. . you've had this case for over a year. I know you haven't had it, but someone's done a lot of work.

But I can't just wait for you to go out there and prepare the case. We've got to go today on it.

(PCR 412-413).

After the defense rested their live testimony (PCR 501) they had to move to reopen the case because Preston (whom counsel had talked to for only one twenty minute interview prior to the hearing) wanted to present some testimony and the court again agreed to Preston's request (PCR 504).

After the final close of testimony the court specifically noted that the evidentiary phase had been concluded and

considered argument on claims for which no testimony was presented (PCR 518-519, 527-557). As the scheduled hearing finally drew to a close defense counsel again sought to "supplement the 3.850 proceeding" and the trial court clarified that request to make sure that no new issues would be raised and in fact limited that request by allowing only a supplemental legal memorandum with argument therein. It is clear from the record that the trial court was not authorizing a further amendment of the already amended motion to vacate (PCR 558-563). The trial court further noted that the appellant had presented his case and "had [his] evidentiary hearing" and that the court would decide the motion presented based upon the evidence heard and the legal memorandum submitted (PCR 565-566).

On November 19, 1986, almost a month after the evidentiary hearing and virtually at the end of the time limit established by the trial court for filing legal memorandum, Preston again sought a continuance and for the first time sought an order from the trial court requiring the state attorney to comply with a public records request (PCR 1196-1200). Why those records were not sought in the intervening one year period from the filing of the initial Rule 3.850 motion (rather than one week before the scheduled hearing) is not apparent nor was their explanation of the necessity for such records in preparing a legal memorandum for which the continuance was ostensibly sought other than to render the "hearing" already held "full, fair, reasonable and just" (PCR 1198). A "supplemental motion" was filed for public records disclosure on November 20, 1986, and on November 24,

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